
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Ben Baugh, Democratic Services Officer on 
01432 261882 or e-mail ben.baugh2@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of 
the meeting. 

 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Connected Communities 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Date: Wednesday 10 July 2024 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, Plough 
Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 0LE 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Ben Baugh, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01432 261882 

Email: ben.baugh2@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the meeting of the Connected 
Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Membership 

 

  
Chairperson Councillor Ed O'Driscoll 
Vice-chairperson Councillor Frank Cornthwaite 
   
 Councillor Bruce Baker 

Councillor David Hitchiner 
Councillor Rob Owens 
Councillor Roger Phillips 
Councillor Diana Toynbee 

 

 
   

 
 



 
Herefordshire Council  10 JULY 2024 
 

 

Agenda 

 Pages 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

2.   NAMED SUBSTITUTES 
 

 

 To receive details of any councillor nominated to attend the meeting in place 
of a member of the committee. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

13 - 24 

 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 27 February 2024. 
 

 

HOW TO SUBMIT QUESTIONS 
 

 

The deadline for the submission of questions for this meeting is 5.00 pm on 
Thursday 4 July 2024. 
 

Questions must be submitted to councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk.  
Questions sent to any other address may not be accepted. 
 

Accepted questions and the responses will be published as a supplement to 
the agenda papers prior to the meeting.  Further information and guidance is 
available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved 
 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from members of the public. 
 

 

6.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from members of the council. 
 

 

7.   AFFORDABLE AND SOCIAL HOUSING IN HEREFORDSHIRE 
 

To Follow 

 To consider an overview of affordable and social housing in Herefordshire. 
 

 

8.   PUBLIC REALM FUTURE OPERATING MODEL WORKING GROUP 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

25 - 30 

 To determine whether to form a committee working group to scrutinise 
development of the Public Realm Future Operating Model. 
 

 

9.   WORK PROGRAMME 
 

To Follow 

 To consider the work programme for the committee. 
 

 

10.   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 To consider the date of the next committee meeting. 
 

 

mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved




The public’s rights to information and attendance at meetings 

You have a right to: 

 Attend all council, cabinet, committee and sub-committee meetings unless the business to be 
transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

 Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.  
Agenda and reports (relating to items to be considered in public) are available at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings 

 Inspect minutes of the council and all committees and sub-committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the cabinet or individual cabinet members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

 Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to four 
years from the date of the meeting (a list of the background papers to a report is given at the 
end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in 
writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

 Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all councillors with 
details of the membership of cabinet and of all committees and sub-committees.  Information 
about councillors is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors 

 Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the council have delegated decision 
making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.  The council’s constitution is 
available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution 

 Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
council, cabinet, committees and sub-committees and to inspect documents. 

Recording of meetings 

Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that it 
does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 

Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you 
should let the governance support team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who 
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware. 

The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 
reporting to ensure that they comply. 

The council may make a recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the council’s 
website.  Such videos are made available for members of the public via the council’s YouTube 
channel at www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams 

Public transport links 

The Herefordshire Council office at Plough Lane is located off Whitecross Road in Hereford, 
approximately 1 kilometre from the City Bus Station. 

Bus maps are available here: www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps 

5

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution
https://www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps




 

      

The seven principles of public life  

(Nolan Principles) 

 

1. Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2. Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 

3. Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

4. Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

5. Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

6. Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

7. Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour and 
treat others with respect. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

7





 

Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee  Updated 2 July 2024 

 

Guide to Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Scrutiny is a statutory role fulfilled by councillors who are not members of the cabinet.  

The role of the scrutiny committees is to help develop policy, to carry out reviews of council and 
other local services, and to hold decision makers to account for their actions and decisions. 

Council has decided that there will be five scrutiny committees.  The committees reflect the 
balance of political groups on the council. 

The Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee consists of 7 councillors. 

Councillor Party 

Bruce Baker Conservative Party 

Frank Cornthwaite (Vice-Chairperson) Conservative Party 

David Hitchiner Independents for Herefordshire  

Ed O'Driscoll (Chairperson) Liberal Democrats 

Rob Owens Liberal Democrats 

Roger Phillips Conservative Party 

Diana Toynbee The Green Party 
 

Scrutiny functions 

The committees have the power: 

(a) to review, influence policy or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection 
with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the executive, 

(b) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive with respect to the 
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the executive, 

(c) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the 
discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the executive, 

(d) to make reports or recommendations to council or the cabinet with respect to the discharge 
of any functions which are not the responsibility of the executive, 

(e) to make reports or recommendations to council or the cabinet on matters which affect the 
authority's area or the inhabitants of that area 

(f) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the 
discharge by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions and to make 
reports or recommendations to the council with respect to the discharge of those functions. 
In this regard crime and disorder functions means: 

(i) a strategy for the reduction of crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social and 
other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); and 

9



Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee  Updated 2 July 2024 

 

(ii) a strategy for combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in the 
area; and 

(iii) a strategy for the reduction of re-offending in the area 

(g) to review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the 
health service in its area and make reports and recommendations to a responsible person 
on any matter it has reviewed or scrutinised or to be consulted by a relevant NHS body or 
health service provider in accordance with the Regulations (2013/218) as amended. In this 
regard health service includes services designed to secure improvement - 

(i) in the physical and mental health of the people of England, and 

(ii) in the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of physical and mental illness 

(iii) and any services provided in pursuance of arrangements under section 75 in relation 
to the exercise of health-related functions of a local authority. 

(h) to review and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities of flood risk 
management functions or coastal erosion risk management functions which may affect the 
local authority's area. 

(i) To track actions and undertake an annual effectiveness review 

The remit of Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee 

 Talk Business programme, advice and support 

 Development investment plans - town, market town, rural, Hereford City 

 Hereford Enterprise Zone 

 Higher education development 

 Adult and community learning programme 

 Apprenticeships 

 Fastershire programme 

 Digital connectivity 

 Heritage, culture and tourism 

 Social value procurement policy 

 Planning 

 Licensing 

 Regulatory 

 Capital highway maintenance, asset management and infrastructure repair 

 Council housing 

 Statutory community safety and policing scrutiny powers 

10

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=62&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IC11DDC30829111DBA731C284100B17B4


Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee  Updated 2 July 2024 

 

Who attends scrutiny committee meetings? 

 Members of the committee, including the chairperson and vice-chairperson. 

 Cabinet members, they are not members of the committee but attend principally to answer 
any questions the committee may have and inform the debate. 

 Officers of the council to present reports and give technical advice to the committee. 

 People external to the council invited to provide information to the committee. 

 Other councillors can attend but can only speak at the discretion of the chairperson. 

11





 

Minutes of the meeting of the Connected Communities Scrutiny 
Committee held in Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, 
Plough Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 0LE on Tuesday 27 February 
2024 at 2.00 pm 
  

Committee members 
present in person 
and voting: 

Councillors: Bruce Baker, Ellie Chowns (Chairperson), 
Frank Cornthwaite, Elizabeth Foxton, Ed O'Driscoll (Vice-Chairperson), 
Ben Proctor and Richard Thomas 

 

  
Others in 
attendance: 

R Allonby (Service Director Economy and Growth), M Averill (Service Director 
Environment and Highways), B Baugh (Democratic Services Officer), Y Coleman 
(Planning Obligations Manager), R Cook (Corporate Director - Economy and 
Environment), Councillor B Durkin (Cabinet Member Roads and Regulatory 
Services), B Evans (Engineering Manager), A Houston (Programme Manager), K 
Jones (Team Leader Area Engineer), K Knight (Sufficiency Planning and Capital 
Investment Manager), P McKim (Head of Planning and Building Control), Q Mee 
(Head of Educational Development), A Rees-Glinos (Governance Support Assistant), 
G Speller (Senior Project Manager), Councillor E Swinglehurst (Cabinet Member 
Environment) and D Webb (Statutory Scrutiny Officer) 

  
28. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors David Hitchiner and Roger 
Phillips. 
 

29. NAMED SUBSTITUTES   
 
Councillors Elizabeth Foxton and Richard Thomas were present as named substitutes for 
Councillors David Hitchiner and Roger Phillips, respectively. 
 

30. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

31. MINUTES   
 
The minutes of the previous meeting were received. 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 November 2023 be confirmed as a correct 
record and be signed by the Chairperson. 
 

32. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 
A document containing a question received from a member of the public and the response 
given, plus a supplementary question and the response given, is attached at Appendix 1 to 
the minutes. 
 

33. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

13

AGENDA ITEM 4



 
A document containing a question received from Councillor David Hitchiner and the 
response given is attached at Appendix 2 to the minutes. 
 

34. THE POLICY, PRIORITISATION AND DELIVERY OF SECTION 106 FUNDING   
 
The opening comments made by the Cabinet Member Environment included: officers 
were thanked for the comprehensive and detailed report; the inquiry from the scrutiny 
committee was welcomed; an overview was provided of the historic backlog in the 
delivery of Section 106 funded schemes and the involvement of the Programme 
Management Office (PMO) in the new delivery model; it was acknowledged that delays 
in community infrastructure projects added costs and frustrated the intention to mitigate 
the impact of development; Section 106 contributions had to be spent efficiently and 
sensibly; there had been meaningful progress but there was still a way to go; the 
committee was invited to consider whether the future plans were robust enough or 
whether further action might be needed; there could be a need to raise public awareness 
of the connection between development sites and community infrastructure projects; and 
there may be a need for revisions to the formulae for contributions as set out in the 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on Planning Obligations dated 1 April 2008. 
 
The Chairperson thanked contributors for the work undertaken in preparing the report.   
 
The principal points of the discussion are summarised below: 
 
Policy 
 
1. In response to a question from the Chairperson, the Planning Obligations Manager 

reported that the figures in the SPD on Planning Obligations were up-to-date for 
education and health but others, such as highway contributions, had not been 
updated since 2008.  It was noted that contributions were index linked from the 
date of an agreement to the date of the monies being received.  The Chairperson 
commented on the significant increases in house prices locally and nationwide 
since 2008, and a potential recommendation about the uplift of the contributions 
was suggested. 
 

2. In response to questions from the Vice-Chairperson, the Planning Obligations 
Manager advised that: it had not been possible within the timescale to produce 
figures on the hypothetical position had the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
been introduced; as part of the new Local Plan, a viability assessment was being 
produced which would set a new CIL charging schedule for the future and this 
would be subject to public consultation; an overview was provided about the new 
role of ‘Infrastructure Delivery Officer’ which would include co-ordination of the 
production of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan; and the CIL arrangements allowed 
parish and town councils to receive a share of the relevant CIL contribution (25% 
for those with an adopted Neighbourhood Plan or 15% for those without) and there 
would still be an opportunity to submit community wish lists. 

 
Later in the meeting, it was clarified that the potential proportional split of monies to 
parish and town councils was set out in the CIL legislation, so would not be 
determined locally. 
 

3. In response to a question from a committee member, the Planning Obligations 
Manager explained that each Section 106 agreement was in place to mitigate the 
impact of a particular development and specified where contributions had to be 
spent. 

 

14



4. With further details provided by the Head of Planning and Building Control, the 
Chairperson noted that the ‘Infrastructure Delivery Officer’ was a strategic 
infrastructure planning role and suggested that further consideration could be given 
to the job title.  In response to questions, the Planning Obligations Manager 
advised that recruitment was underway and that the review of the SPD on Planning 
Obligations was likely to be given high priority. 

 
5. In response to a question from a committee member, the Head of Planning and 

Building Control said that, in addition to work in support of the Local Plan, there 
would be an opportunity to review the figures in the SPD and interim arrangements 
could be put in place. 

 
6. The Cabinet Member Environment said that the current Cabinet had not yet had a 

specific discussion on the direction of travel with Section 106 / Infrastructure Levy 
and the outcomes of this scrutiny committee meeting could be a springboard for 
such a discussion. 

 
7. In response to questions from a committee member, the Planning Obligations 

Manager advised that: the length of time available to spend contributions was 
individual to each agreement, with the usual starting point being ten years; and the 
Section 106 contribution search facility provided details of the income available, 
pending and spent from each development site.  Noting that this data was 
populated through a spreadsheet currently, the Chairperson suggested that 
consideration could be given to graphical presentation of key information.  The 
Programme Manager commented on some of the complexities (e.g. there could be 
a number of projects for primary, secondary, special educational needs, and post-
16 education) and resource implications, but acknowledged that this should be 
explored. 

 
8. The Programme Manager reported that risks had been identified in relation to the 

potential return of unspent or uncommitted parts of Section 106 monies to 
developers due to expiring timescales but the review of processes during 2023 had 
minimised those risks; around £7k of highways and transport contributions had 
been returned to date. 

 
9. A committee member questioned how the authority could judge whether planning 

obligations were set at the most efficient level.  The Planning Obligations Manager: 
re-iterated that work was underway on the Local Plan viability assessment; 
confirmed that there were only two planning applications with viability assessments 
currently; said that the potential uplift of contribution requirements could result in 
more challenges from developers on viability grounds; and advised that viability 
assessments submitted by developers were looked at independently by the 
government’s district valuer service. 

 
The Cabinet Member Environment commented on the need for careful 
consideration of viability given the delicate balance to bring economic growth and 
housing to the county whilst securing appropriate contributions towards community 
infrastructure, including biodiversity net gain.   
 
The Head of Planning and Building Control said that, in discussions about viability 
assessments, developers often sought to negotiate adjustments to the level of 
affordable housing, particularly social rented units. 
 

10. The Chairperson noted that the authority maintained a community ideas / wish lists 
database and this was available on the council’s website as a static document 
currently [link to parish and town council Section 106 wish lists].  It was questioned: 
if the facility could be made more accessible and searchable; should the wish lists 

15

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/section106search
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/25255/parish-and-town-council-s106-wish-lists


be updated, noting that some requests dated back to 2011/12; and whether there 
was active community engagement to inform the wish lists.  In response, the 
Planning Obligations Manager said that: the committee may wish to make a 
recommendation about improving the format of the wish lists database; parish and 
town councils were invited to submit their wish lists annually and there may be 
valid reasons for retaining suggestions over a longer period (e.g. a new community 
building may take longer to deliver); and Talk Community officers were now being 
invited to community engagement events. 
 
In addition to welcoming general ideas for future community infrastructure, the 
Chairperson suggested that the correspondence to parish and town councils could 
set out current balances to help concentrate minds on specific spending proposals. 
 
The Planning Obligations Manager commented on the level of engagement from 
parish and town councils in the preparation of Neighbourhood Development Plans 
and in terms of wish lists.  The committee was advised that a pro forma for wish 
lists would be provided to parish and town councils going forward to encourage 
communities to provide more detail about existing and future needs.  It was 
confirmed that the matters identified in Neighbourhood Development Plans were 
not added to the wish lists database. 
 
In response to questions from the Vice-Chairperson, the Programme Manager: 
welcomed the suggestion of providing feedback to town and parish councils to 
inform realistic wish lists, and commented on the need to understand better the 
potential problems anticipated by communities; and acknowledged the need to 
consider best practice in terms of community engagement.   
 
The Planning Obligations Manager emphasised that Section 106 agreements 
could not be used to remedy existing deficiencies in local infrastructure. 

 
11. With reference to paragraphs 4.8.5 of the Constitution, the Planning Obligations 

Manager explained that, in the case of a major planning application, there would 
be a first point of contact with the local ward member to identify whether an 
application triggered the need for a Section 106 agreement, and the second point 
of contact would be to discuss the draft Heads of Terms to ensure that local 
mitigations measures were incorporated appropriately. 

 
12. In response to a question from a committee member, the Planning Obligations 

Manager advised that any person commenting on a planning application could 
identify potential infrastructure requirements and these would be taken into 
account. 

 
13. A committee member commented on the current lack of a Neighbourhood 

Development Plan for Hereford City Council.   
 

The Service Director Economy and Growth outlined how infrastructure needs for 
the city area and as a hub for the wider county were being looked at through the 
development of the Local Plan, Hereford City Masterplan, and the Economic Plan. 
 

14. The Cabinet Member Environment commented that, where no Neighbourhood 
Development Plan was in place, further consideration could be given to the means 
for town and parish councils to identify local infrastructure requirements. 

 
15. A committee member commented that requirements may change during the time 

span of a Section 106 agreement.  The Planning Obligations Manager said that, 
whilst the authority tried to be as flexible as possible, statutory tests had to be met 
and planning obligations had to be set out in detail in the legal agreement. 

16



 
16. A suggestion was made about exploring the relationships between Herefordshire 

Council and town and parish councils.  The Chairperson noted that a specific topic 
could be given consideration as part of the committee’s work programming activity.  

 
[Note: There was a short adjournment] 

 
17. In response to a question from the Vice-Chairperson, the Head of Education 

Development and the Sufficiency Planning and Capital Investment Manager 
explained that separate contributions were sought for education settings and for 
youth provision. 

 
18. The Planning Obligations Manager confirmed that officers would have regard to 

the whole content of a Neighbourhood Development Plan in drawing up Head of 
Terms; members were invited to contact the team about queries relating to 
developments in their wards. 

 
Delivery 
 
19. The Programme Manager reported that the Programme Management Office 

(PMO) had been established to drive delivery of capital and transformational 
projects across the directorates, and a team was working on the backlog of Section 
106 funded schemes.  The Cabinet Member Environment said that consideration 
would need to be given to the arrangements for the management of future 
schemes.   

 
In response to a question from the Chairperson, the Corporate Director – Economy 
and Environment considered that extra dedicated resource was needed to oversee 
the whole process and consideration would need to be given as to where this 
function should sit within the organisation going forward. 

 
20. The Vice-Chairperson questioned whether any interest accrued on banked Section 

106 contributions could be ring-fenced to additional resource to manage down the 
backlog.  As there was no representative from the finance team in attendance to 
comment on the treasury management approach, the Cabinet Member 
Environment said that a recommendation from the committee would provide the 
opportunity to explore this. 
 

21. In response to a question from the Chairperson, the Programme Manager advised 
that the current PMO activity on the delivery of the backlog schemes was being 
funded from PMO revenue budget.   

 
The Service Director Economy and Growth said that project management costs 
were now being built into new Section 106 agreements, and other delivery models 
were being explored, including the potential for developers/contractors to deliver 
schemes themselves.  The Chairperson expressed concern about information 
asymmetry in this scenario.  The Service Director acknowledged the need to 
ensure that value for money was achieved in any developer/contractor delivered 
schemes but said that there were possible time and money savings by utilising 
resources already on the ground, rather than finding and mobilising other parties. 
 

22. In response to a question from a committee member, the Programme Manager 
and the Senior Project Manager outlined the arrangements for design work on the 
backlog schemes; AECOM had been engaged as a design partner for larger 
projects, through a competitive framework, and additional quotes were being 
sought from small to medium sized enterprises for smaller projects.  It was noted 

17



that some schemes, already at advanced stages, were still being delivered by 
Balfour Beatty Living Places. 

 
23. A committee member queried the implications of 2024/25 council-wide savings, 

including the Mutual Early Resignation Scheme (MERS) which identified savings of 
£4.5m, on the capacity within services to support the delivery of Section 106 
funded schemes.  The Cabinet Member Environment commented that services 
had to be delivered in an efficient way, re-iterated that consideration would be 
given to delivery models for the longer term, and noted that appropriate charges 
should be included in Section 106 agreements. 

 
24. The Chairperson drew attention to the question received from Councillor David 

Hitchiner about Section 106 money from phosphate credits and the potential for 
funds to be ring-fenced and invested appropriately in order to accrue interest (see 
Appendix 2 to the minutes).  With reference made to the decisions of Cabinet on 
26 May 2022 (minute 119, Phosphate Credit Pricing and Allocation Policy refers), 
the Service Director Environment and Highway advised the committee that interest 
was ring-fenced.  The Vice-Chairperson considered that this should be held in a 
separate account to ensure that it was not subject to policy changes in the future. 

 
25. In response to a question from a committee member, the Programme Manager 

said that the delivery of Section 106 funded schemes was a challenge for all local 
authorities and backlogs were higher in some areas.   
 
The Planning Obligations Manager reported that research was being undertaken 
on benchmark local authorities to identify the range of fees and charges, the forms 
of developer contributions, and the software systems being used.   
 
In response to further questions from the Chairperson, the Planning Obligations 
Manager said that 17 benchmark local authorities had been selected by the 
research team, and the Head of Planning and Building Control said that the 
exercise should be completed over the next six weeks. 
 

26. In response to a comment from a committee member, the Programme Manager, 
Engineering Manager, and Senior Project Manager provided an overview of the 
statutory process and indicative timescales for the making of Traffic Regulation 
Orders. 
 

27. With attention drawn to the sentence in the report ‘… in most cases, projects are 
value engineered within the set budget parameters’ (report paragraph 39, agenda 
supplement page 10), the Chairperson questioned whether the authority could do 
better at matching Section 106 funding with other sources of funding.  The 
Programme Manager commented that the team was working with the historic 
backlog, on a case by case basis, and would look to bring together different 
funding streams where possible.  As this involved historic budgets, value 
engineering focused on working smarter with the design and delivery to provide 
best value for money to achieve the overall objectives.  

 
As an example, the Planning Obligations Manager said that the authority worked 
with the Football Foundation in terms of certain sports facilities.  It was also 
reported that, in conjunction with Talk Community, sources of funding were 
identified to town and parish councils as potential opportunities for match funding. 
 
In response to a further question from the Chairperson, the Head of Planning and 
Building Control confirmed that the Infrastructure Delivery Plan would identify 
relationships between strategic projects, contributions from development sites, and 
other funding streams. 

18

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=50041223&Opt=3


 
28. The Programme Manager acknowledged the need to consider how to enhance 

stakeholder engagement and to raise public awareness of projects funded through 
Section 106 contributions. 
 

29. In response to questions from the Vice-Chairperson, the Sufficiency Planning and 
Capital Investment Manager provided clarifications about the ‘notional catchment 
area’ used for denominational schools. 

 
30. With attention drawn to Appendix 10 (Overview of Projects Delivered 23/24, 

agenda supplement page 51), the Chairperson commented that an opportunity had 
been missed to put financial information into the public domain.  With reference 
made to report paragraph 21 (agenda supplement page 8), it was noted that some 
information had been provided for the period 2019-2024 but committee members 
had requested information dating back ten years, and for this to be provided in a 
graphical format. 

 
The Chairperson emphasised the need to communicate more clearly around 
Section 106 in order to enhance public understanding; it was noted that Section 
106 funding could provide for capital infrastructure but not revenue to run services. 
 

31. Noting that ‘The backlog is forecast to be delivered over financial years 2024/25 
and 2025/26’ (report paragraph 35, agenda supplement page 9), the Chairperson 
emphasised the importance of maintaining grip on the management of this matter. 

 
32. The Planning Obligations Manager and the Programme Manager commented on 

the hard work being undertaken within the service areas to support the programme 
of delivery. 

 
33. In response to a comment by the Vice-Chairperson, the Cabinet Member 

Environment acknowledged that delays in delivery could impact on both public 
perception and on overall costs.  The Cabinet Member added that there was a 
need for capacity to ensure there was a streamlined, efficient and timely process. 
 

At the conclusion of the discussion, the Chairperson noted that there was consensus 
that this was an important issue, a lot of progress had been made with the backlog, and 
projects needed to be taken forward as quickly as possible. 
 
There was a short adjournment to enable committee members to consider potential 
recommendations.  The meeting recommenced, the draft recommendations were read 
out by the Statutory Scrutiny Officer, and the following resolution was agreed by the 
committee. 
 
Resolved: That it be recommended to the executive: 
 
1. Review the future schedule of rates for Section 106 as contained in the 

Supplementary Planning Document on Planning Obligations dated 1st April 
2008 to ensure they reflect current costs, and are updated annually. 
 

2. Introduce interim arrangements for Section 106 funding to ensure changes 
to schedules of rates can be updated rapidly, while a decision on adopting 
Infrastructure Levy is reviewed. 
 

3. Improve parish council, councillor and local resident engagement in 
updating community wish lists. 
 

19



4. Invite parishes who do not currently have a neighbourhood development 
plan to submit a parish infrastructure development plan. 
 

5. Publish the community wish list in a more accessible format. 
 

6. Consider using interest on banked section 106 contributions to help expedite 
delivery of the Section 106 project backlog. 
 

7. Ensure that the costs of Section 106 delivery are integrated into the S106 
contributions collected to ensure that there is ongoing adequate capacity to 
enable prompt delivery of projects, both in terms of project management 
capacity and in terms of delivery capacity within the relevant service areas. 
 

8. Clarify how delivery of Section 106 projects will be managed once the 
Programme Management Office (PMO) backlog project comes to an end. 
 

9. Improve presentation of information on Section 106 funding received and 
spent, including greater graphical representation of funding, to enable 
greater public understanding of the process. 
 

10. Report back to the committee on the results of the Section 106 
benchmarking exercise within three months. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 5.10 pm Chairperson 

20



Appendix 1 Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee, 27 February 2024 

 Item 5, Questions from members of the public (plus supplementary question) 
 

Questioner: Peter McKay, Leominster 

Question: 

Would you review the text of the Long List item in your work programme to ensure that it covers both the specific highway and path record issues I 
suggested be a topic for scrutiny back in December 2022, namely the process for addressing long standing anomalies, etc., in our highway and 
path records, such as those that Leominster Town Council has requested be addressed as part of the 2021-41 Place Shaping Local Plan, and the 
Green Lanes shown as footpaths that come about due to use of the non-statutory term CRF, which your research guidance glossary advises 
where intended to be shown as RUPP's, but were shown as footpaths with use by others than walkers being extinguished in 2031, along with 
some indication of when could expect scrutiny of these two specific aspects of the highway and path records? 

Response: 

Yes, the committee will review the Long List as requested and will respond on the substance of the question at the next public meeting. 

Supplementary question: 

I wish to express my disappointment that the substance of my question is not to be considered at this meeting, with the next meeting being in May, 
some 18 months after scrutiny topic was suggested to the Government Support Team in conformance with your 'Get Involved' webpage 
encouragement to do so, so may I ask why your work programme, or any other business is not a routine part of the agenda to cover such 
matters? 

Response: 

Thank you for your question. 

I have been advised that it is considered not good practice for committees to have an ‘any other business’ section.  This is because, for council 
meetings held in public, there are rules about papers being provided in advance so that everybody has the opportunity to look at them. 

I can let you know that we are in fact going to be having a work programme meeting next week.  Although this is not a meeting in public, we will be 
taking the issue that you have raised to the work programme meeting and will write back to you. 

 

21





Appendix 2 Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee, 27 February 2024 

 Item 6, Questions from members of the council 

 

Questioner: Councillor David Hitchiner 

Question: 

Appendix 6 of Item 7 refers to £556,100 of s106 money from phosphate credits.  As I recall, this is money required to keep the wetlands operating 

for 40 years so of a different character to other s106 monies which are to be spend over a relatively short period.   

So far as I know, these monies will not accrue interest although the council currently benefits from investing at a rate of c5%.  Could the 
Committee consider recommending that funds be ring-fenced and invested appropriately (maybe including a portfolio of shares) and as a 
minimum they should be increasing from the date of receipt at the 5% rate.  The alternative is that the money in the pot devalues each day due to 
inflation and the intention that there is enough money to pay for maintenance and repair, to the detriment of future generations of council tax 
payers. 

Response: 

Thank you for your suggestion; we will consider it under item 7 of the meeting. 

 23





 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Danial Webb, Tel: 01432 260659, email: Danial.Webb@herefordshire.gov.ukl 

Title of report: Public Realm Future 
Operating Model working group terms 
of reference 
 

Meeting: Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee  

Meeting date: 10 July 2024 

Report by: Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

Classification 

Open 

Decision type 

This is not an executive decision 

Wards affected  

All wards 

Purpose  

To determine whether to form a committee working group to scrutinise development of the Public 
Realm Future Operating Model. 

Recommendation(s) 

That: 

a) The committee consider forming a working group according to the terms of reference 
attached as appendix 1; and 

b) The attending Cabinet Member(s) at the meeting be invited to identify any additional 
elements relevant to the terms of reference. 

Alternative options 

1. The committee could make changes to the terms of reference before agreeing to form a working 
group. 

2. It could also decide not to form the working group. 

25

AGENDA ITEM 8



Key considerations 

3. As part of the development of the committee’s work programme, the committee’s chair, Cllr Ed 
O’Driscoll has met with officers of the council to discuss their priorities for the next twelve 
months. A key strand of work for the economy and environment directorate will be the 
development of the proposed future operating model for the council’s public realm services. 

4. On 27 June 2024, Cabinet agreed a public services realm operating model and to delegate the 
corporate director for economy and environment to carry out market engagement on this model. 
It is expected that the corporate director will report findings to Cabinet at its meeting on 24 
October 2024. 

5. The chair of the Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee proposes that the committee 
scrutinise the findings of the market engagement exercise and the resultant proposals before 
they are considered by Cabinet. This would provide Cabinet with a considered ‘second opinion’ 
that would complement the officer-led recommendations and strengthen its decision making. 
Ordinarily this would take place within a formal committee meeting. However there are a number 
of factors preventing that from happening. The market engagement exercise is unlikely to be 
concluded until very late September, before which there is little for the committee to scrutinise. 
The exercise findings are also likely to contain commercially sensitive information, making their 
scrutiny difficult in a formal meeting. In addition the chair of the Connected Communities 
Scrutiny Committee will propose at this meeting that the committee use its next meeting to focus 
on housing development. 

6. As a result, the chair wishes to propose that the committee form a working group of the 
committee, to scrutinise the draft findings of the market engagement exercise and to propose 
recommendations for agreement by the Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee at the next 
formal committee meeting. 

7. In order to provide the opportunity for the committee to agree the working group’s 
recommendations in time for the Cabinet meeting on 24 October 2024, the chair proposes to 
move the planned September committee meeting to a date no later than 15 October 2024. This 
would require the working group to meet in the first two weeks of October 2024. 

8. Draft terms of reference for the working group are attached as appendix 1. 

Community impact 

9. The scrutiny function supports community development through robust scrutiny of the council’s 
policy framework, including the Local Plan, Health and Wellbeing Strategy, County Plan and the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

10. Scrutiny also supports community issues more directly through the work of the Connected 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 

11. The function also helps to ensure that the council discharges its corporate parent duties 
effectively, through scrutiny of the corporate parenting board and the council’s broader work to 
support its looked after children and their families. 

Environmental impact 

12. Herefordshire Council provides and purchases a wide range of services for the people of 
Herefordshire. Together with partner organisations in the private, public and voluntary sectors 
we share a strong commitment to improving our environmental sustainability, achieving carbon 
neutrality and to protect and enhance Herefordshire’s outstanding natural environment. 

13. All reports to scrutiny committees, as with all council committees, include appraisals of the 
impact of the report content on climate change. Scrutiny committee work programmes directly 

26



link to the Council Plan priorities, including the key priority to ‘Protect and enhance our 
environment and ensure that Herefordshire is a great place to live’. 

14. Climate change and carbon reduction related issues are directly identified in the remit and 
therefore focus of the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee. 

15. Whilst this is a decision on back office functions and will have minimal environmental impacts, 
consideration has been made to minimise waste and resource use in line with the Council’s 
Environmental Policy. Examples include: 

a. Creation of an online-only briefing programme, eliminating the need to travel to Hereford 
for a single meeting. 

b. Paper-free briefings and informal meetings, eliminating the need for printed paper. 

Equality duty 

16. Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

a. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited 
by or under this Act; 

b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

17. The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can positively 
contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and demonstrate that we are 
paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the delivery of 
services. As this report is primarily for information, we do not believe that accepting (or rejecting) 
this report will have an impact on our equality duty. 

Resource implications 

18. Effective scrutiny produces evidence-based recommendations. These can be informed by 
learning from best practice and an understanding of ‘what works’ at other similar local 
authorities, as well as developing a robust picture of what the situation is locally based on data, 
intelligence and insights. Where adopted, recommendations can help with the efficiency and 
effectiveness of services that can be delivered differently, as well as informing the development 
of current and new policies. 

19. As this report is primarily for information, there are no direct resource implications arising from 
this report. However the function may require some funding in order to carry out its work 
effectively. Requirements may include purchasing training or expert advice. However it is 
anticipated that much of the training and development required during the year can be met using 
existing council resources.  

Risk management 

20. Effective scrutiny is a feature of the council’s governance arrangements, where the council is 
operating executive arrangements. There are a range factors that could result in risks to council 
of not doing scrutiny effectively. These include the failure to: 

a. challenge and hold decision makers to account 

b. link scrutiny work to the delivery of the council’s priorities and risk management 

27



c. carry out thorough and appropriate research to make evidence-base recommendations 

d. engage partners and providers 

e. ensure that structures and models of operation are fit for purpose and match ambition and 
available resources 

f. ensure that scrutiny can operate as the voice of communities and 

g. draw on member knowledge and experience to inform policy development.  

21. To mitigate, tolerate or eradicate these risks, enablers for effective scrutiny include: 

a. operating in an apolitical manner 

b. clarity of vision and purpose 

c. scrutiny support availability, capability and capacity 

d. effective engagement and commitment by members and officers at all levels, including 
cabinet, opposition leaders, scrutiny chairs and senior officers who play a central role in 
setting the tone and direction 

e. robust work programming and prioritisation of topics with clear objectives and expected 
impacts 

f. ensuring that scrutiny work will add value to the council and communities e.g. through 
strong links between work programme topics and the integrated strategic plans that set out 
the actions and timescales to deliver the priorities in the County Plan 

g. access to and availability of robust data and intelligence and 

h. good relationships with partners and providers. 

Consultees 

22. None 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Public Realm Future Operating Model working group terms of reference 

Background papers 

The new Public Realm services - report to Herefordshire Council Cabinet, 27 June 2024 

28

https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s50119885/The%20new%20Public%20Realm%20services.pdf


Appendix 1 

Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee  

Public Realm Future Operating Model working group  

Terms of reference 

 

Background 

In 2013 Herefordshire Council awarded a contract to Balfour Beatty Living Places (BBLP) to 

deliver public realm services including highways, traffic management, public rights of way, 

parks and open spaces, street cleaning and street lighting. The contract operation was 

largely outsourced with the council retaining a small client and contract management 

function. Public rights of way and traffic management services were brought back in house in 

2021. The contract term is until 31 August 2026.  

Following this an enhanced contract management team was introduced to improve control 

and performance of the contractor, but despite improvement in recent years a further review 

concluded that the current contract model will not deliver the services to the Council’s 

current requirements. The prospect of modifying the contract with BBLP was assessed to 

establish new processes and procedures that became known as the Future Operating Model 

(FOM). However legal advice concluded that the degree of contract modification required to 

instigate the FOM would not be permitted under procurement regulations. 

In April 2024 Cabinet therefore agreed that the contract with BBLP will not be extended and 

will end 31 May 2026. In June it agreed a proposed new future operating model and to begin 

market engagement on it. It asked for the findings of the exercise to be presented at its 

meeting on 24 October 2024. 

The chair of the Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee proposes that the Connected 

Communities Scrutiny Committee scrutinises the findings of the market engagement 

exercise, and provides a narrative response and any recommendations it wishes to the 

same Cabinet meeting. 

 

Objectives 

The group aims to 

 

 

 Evaluate any changes to the proposed operating model following the market 

engagement exercise. 

 Appraise the findings of the market testing exercise, and the viability of any future 

operating model in the marketplace.  

 Report and make recommendations to Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee 

for consideration for presentation to Cabinet on 24 October 2024. 

 

29



Information required 

 Findings of market engagement on the Public Realm Services model  

 Draft Public Realm Services model 

 

Witnesses 

 Portfolio Holder, Transport and Infrastructure 

 Corporate Director, Economy and Environment 

 Service Director, Environment and Highways 

 Any relevant external stakeholders identified by the committee 

 

Schedule 

Agree terms of reference 

 

10 July 2024 

Consider the findings of the market 

engagement exercise and to agree 

recommendations for approval by the 

Connected Communities Scrutiny 

Committee.   

 

Date to be confirmed, early October 

Present findings and recommendations to 

Connected Communities Scrutiny 

Committee. 

 

Committee meeting - date to be confirmed 

but no later than 15 October 

 

Present recommendations to Cabinet. 

 

24 October 2024 

 

30


	Agenda
	 
	The seven principles of public life (the 'Nolan principles')
	Guide to Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee

	4 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - Question from a member of the public and the response (plus supplementary question and the response)
	Appendix 2 - Question from a councillor and the response

	8 Public Realm Future Operating Model working group terms of reference
	Appendix 1 for Public Realm Future Operating Model working group terms of reference


